#### **DECEMBER 31, 2006**

#### **DENHAM SPRINGS, LOUISIANA**

Under provisions of state law, this report is a public document. Acopy of the report has been submitted to the entity and other appropriate public officials. The report is available for public inspection at the Baton Rouge office of the Legislative Auditor and, where appropriate, at the office of the parish clerk of court.

Release Date 7-4-07

## **CONTENTS**

Independent Auditor's Report	Page 1 - 2
Management's Discussion and Analysis	3 - 7
Balance Sheet	8
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets	9
Statement of Cash Flows	10 - 11
Notes to Financial Statements	12 - 20
Supplementary Information:	
Schedule of Assets, Liabilities, and Net Assets by Program (Schedule 1)	21
Schedule of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets by Program (Schedule 2)	22
Schedule of Cash Flows by Program (Schedule 3)	23 - 24
Independent Auditor's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in Accordance with Government Auditing Standards	25 <b>-</b> 26

Randy J. Bonnecaze, CPA\*
Joseph D. Richard, Jr., CPA\*
Ronnie E. Stamper, CPA\*
Fernand P. Genre, CPA\*
Stephen M. Huggins, CPA\*
Monica L. Zumo, CPA\*
Ronald L. Gagnet, CPA\*
Douglas J. Nelson, CPA\*
Celeste D. Viator, CPA\*
Laura E. Monroc, CPA\*
R. David Wascom, CPA\*

1175 Del Este Avenue, Suite B Denham Springs, LA 70726 Phone: (225) 665-8297 Fax: (225) 667-3813 Members American Institute of Certified Public Accountants

> 2322 Tremont Drive Baton Rouge, LA 70809

> > www.htbcpa.com

May 24, 2007

### INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Denham Springs/Livingston Housing and
Mortgage Finance Authority

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Denham Springs/Livingston Housing and Mortgage Finance Authority (the Authority) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006, as listed in the foregoing table of contents. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Authority's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in <u>Government Auditing Standards</u>, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Denham Springs/Livingston Housing and Mortgage Finance Authority as of December 31, 2006, and the changes in financial position and cash flows thereof for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

In accordance with <u>Government Auditing Standards</u>, we have also issued a report dated May 24, 2007 on our consideration of the Authority's internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing and not to provide an opinion on the internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with *Government Auditing Standards* and should be considered in assessing the results of our audit.

The Management's Discussion and Analysis on pages 3 through 7 is not a required part of the basic financial statements but is supplementary information required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We have applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquires of management regarding the methods of measurement and presentation of the supplementary information. However, we did not audit the information and express no opinion on it.

Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements taken as a whole. The supplementary information included in Schedules 1 through 3 as listed in the table of contents is presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and, in our opinion, such information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole.

Respectfully submitted,

Hannis et Bourgeois, M. P.

### MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Management's Discussion and Analysis of Denham Springs / Livingston Housing & Mortgage Finance Authority's (the "Authority") financial performance presents a narrative overview and analysis of the Authority's financial activities for the year ended December 31, 2006. This document focuses on the current year's activities, resulting changes, and currently known facts in comparison with the prior year's information. Please read this document in conjunction with the Authority's financial statements, which begin on page 8.

#### FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

- During 2006, low mortgage loan interest rates continued to cause a significant amount of the Authority's
  mortgage loans to first time home buyers to be prepaid. Prepayments from mortgage loans (as the
  underlying collateral for the Mortgage Backed Securities) are used to retire bonds prior to their maturity.
  Fewer assets results in lower mortgage related interest income and fewer bonds results in lower bond
  interest expense.
- In December, 2004, the Authority received a \$4,000,000 volume cap allocation for tax-exempt mortgage revenue bonds for the purpose of initiating a new mortgage loan program for the first-time home buyers of Livingston Parish. The Authority issued the \$4,000,000 Series 2004A short term bonds in December, 2004 and invested the bond proceeds in a Guaranteed Investment Contract ("GIC") which bears the same interest rate as the 2004A bonds. The short term 2004A bonds were being held by the Authority's Placement Agent. The Authority planned to initiate the mortgage loan mortgage using the Private Placement FNMA Forward Delivery structure in 2005. However, prior to the initiation of the lending program, FNMA discontinued the availability of the Forward Delivery structure. Consequently, the Authority was not able to begin its lending program. The 2004A bonds were redeemed on December 1, 2006. The Authority plans to request tax-exempt bond volume cap from the State of Louisiana's Governor in order to plan a lending program during 2007.
- Total Assets decreased by \$4,329,474 primarily due to the redemption of the 2004A bonds which were secured by a \$4,000,000 Guaranteed Investment Contract. Total Liabilities decreased \$4,487,696 primarily due to the redemption of the 2004A bonds and other reductions in bonds payable from principal payments and prepayments.
- The Authority's assets exceeded its liabilities at the close of fiscal year 2006 by \$4,377,265, which represents a \$158,222 increase from 2005.
- The Authority's gross revenue (exclusive of the "Net Realized and Unrealized Gains / Losses on Investments") increased \$45,182 due in part to a transfer of funds from the Authority's Money Market Account to higher yielding investments.
- There was a \$191,849 increase in the changes in net assets from the prior year due primarily to the decrease in operating expense of \$289,553 in 2005 to \$279,512 in 2006 and partially as a result of the change in the fair value of investments in 2006 compared to 2005. Net Income was \$185,934 in 2006 as compared to a Net Income of \$130,711 in 2005 excluding the effect of the change in the fair value of investments.

#### **OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS**

These basic financial statements consist of three sections - Management's Discussion and Analysis (this section), the basic financial statements (including the notes to the financial statements), and the supplemental information.

#### **Basic Financial Statements**

The basic financial statements include information on a combined basis for the Authority as a whole, in a format designed to make the statements easier for the reader to understand. The statements include the Balance Sheet; the Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Assets; and the Statement of Cash Flows.

The <u>Balance Sheet</u> presents the assets and liabilities separately. The difference between total assets and total liabilities is net assets and may provide a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Authority is improving or deteriorating. Schedules of Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets by Program is on page 21.

The <u>Statement of Revenues</u>, <u>Expenses</u>, and <u>Changes in Net Assets</u> presents information showing how the Authority's net assets changed as a result of the current year operations. Regardless of when cash is affected, all changes in net assets are reported when the underlying transactions occur. As a result, there are transactions included that will not affect cash until future fiscal periods. Schedules of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets by Program is on page 22.

The Statement of Cash Flows presents information showing how the Authority's cash changed as a result of the current year's operations. The cash flow statement is prepared using the direct method and includes the reconciliation of net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (indirect method) as required by Statement No. 34 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board. Schedules of Cash Flow by Program is on pages 23 and 24.

#### FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE AUTHORITY

## Denham Springs/Livingston Housing and Mortgage Finance Authority Statement of Net Assets as of December 31,2006 and 2005

			Increase
	2006	2005	(Decrease)
Cash & Cash Equivalents Guaranteed Investment Contracts	\$ 626,423	\$ 660,920	\$ (34,497)
and Investments	4,031,555	8,341,414	(4,309,859) 14,882
Other Assets	911,431	<u>896,549</u>	
Total Assets	5,569,409	9,898,883	(4,329,474)
Other Liabilities	17,231	41,154	(23,923)
Long-Term Debt Outstanding	1,174,913	5,638,686	(4,463,773)
Total Liabilities	1,192,144	5,679,840	(4,487,696)
Net Assets:			
Restricted	238,169	258,506	(20,337)
Unrestricted	4,139,096	3,960,537	178,559
Total Net Assets	\$ 4,37 <u>7,</u> 265	\$ 4,219,043	\$ 158,222

Restricted net assets represent those net assets that are not available for general use due to the terms of the various bond trust indentures under which assets are held and pledged as security for the bonds of the Authority's Mortgage Revenue Bond Programs. Conversely, unrestricted net assets are those assets for which there are no such limitations.

Net assets of the Authority increased by \$158,222 from December 31, 2005 to December 31, 2006. This increase in net assets can be attributed to the net gain of \$158,222 which is primarily due to an increase in the fair value of securities of \$136,626.

## Denham Springs/Livingston Housing and Mortgage Finance Authority Condensed Statement of Changes in Net Assets For the Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005

	2006	· ·	2005	Increase Decrease)
Revenues Expenses - Operating	\$ 437,° 279,°		255,926 289,553	\$ 181,808 (10,041)
Change in Net Assets	\$ 158,2	222 \$	(33,627)	\$ 191,849

#### Revenue

The Authority's revenues increased primarily due to a transfer of funds from the Authority's Money market Account (i.e., "Cash and Cash Equivalents") to higher interest bearing investments. The Authority had a net decrease in the fair value of investments of \$27,712 in 2006 compared to a net decrease in the fair value of investments of \$164,338 in 2005, resulting in an overall \$181,808 increase in revenues in 2006. Operating expenses decreased primarily as a result of reduced bond interest payments due to the early retirement of bonds payable.

The Authority's total revenues exclusive of "Net Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Investments" increased by \$45,182. The total operating cost of all programs and services decreased by \$10,041. This net change was primarily a result of an increase in bond interest expense of \$11,199, a decrease in Amortization of Deferred Financing Costs of \$12,864, and a decrease in administrative fees of \$8,509.

#### Debt

The Authority had \$1,174,913 in bonds outstanding at the end of 2006, compared to \$5,638,686 at the end of 2005, as shown in the table below.

#### December 31, 2006 and 2005

	2006	2005	(Decrease)
Mortgage Revenue Bonds	\$ 1,174,913	\$ 5,638,686	\$ (4,463,773)

The net decreased debt level resulted from the \$463,773 early retirement of bonds from payments and prepayments of mortgage related assets and the \$4,000,000 redemption of the 2004A bonds.

The Authority's bond rating continues to carry the AAA rating for the debt of its Mortgage Revenue Bonds.

The Authority has accounts payable and accrued interest payable of \$17,231 outstanding at 2006 year-end compared with \$41,154 at the 2005 year-end.

#### ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR'S BUDGET

The Authority's appointed officials considered the following factors and indicators when setting next year's budget. These factors and indicators include:

• The stabilization of interest rates slowing early payoffs and refinancing, slowing the shrinking of the Authority's asset base of mortgage backed securities and thereby slowing the reduction of mortgage interest income and issuer fees the Authority receives.

## CONTACTING THE DENHAM SPRINGS / LIVINGSTON HOUSING & MORTGAGE FINANCE AUTHORITY MANAGEMENT

This Financial report is designed to provide Louisiana's citizens and taxpayers, as well as the Authority's customers and creditors with a general overview of the Denham Springs / Livingston Housing & Mortgage Finance Authority's finances and to show the Authority's accountability for the money it receives. If you have any questions about this report or need additional financial information, please contact:

Stacy Jones Chairman P O Box 2281 Denham Springs, LA. 70727-2281

225-665-5406

## **BALANCE SHEET**

## AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2006

## **ASSETS**

Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$	626,423
FNMA Securities		950,410
GNMA Securities		1,370,519
FHLMC Securities		1,569,155
FGIC Capital Market Investment		141,471
Accrued Interest Receivable		27,975
Deferred Financing Costs - Net of Amortization		30,497
Due from Escrow	_	852,959
Total Assets	\$	5,569,409
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSET	<u>s</u>	
Liabilities:		
Accrued Interest Payable	\$	17,231
Bonds Payable - Net	_	1,174,913
Total Liabilities		1,192,144
Net Assets:		
Restricted for Debt Service		238,169
Unrestricted	_	4,139,096
Total Net Assets	_	4,377,265
Total Liabilities and Net Assets	\$	5,569,409

# STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

Operating Revenues:		
Interest Earned on Other Investments	\$	465,446
Net Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Investments	_	(27,712)
Total Operating Revenues		437,734
Operating Expenses:		
Interest		212,957
Amortization of Deferred Financing Costs		1 <b>7,099</b>
Grant		30,000
Administrative Fees		5,525
Operating Expenses		3,931
Professional Fees	_	10,000
Total Operating Expenses		279,512
Change in Net Assets		158,222
Net Assets - Beginning of Year		4,219,043
Net Assets - End of Year	\$	4,377,265

## STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:		
Cash Receipts for:		
Investment Income on Other Investments	\$	429,901
Cash Payments for:		
Interest on Debt		(242,469)
Other Operating Expenses	_	(52,956)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities		134,476
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:		
Purchase of Investments		(939,471)
Proceeds from Maturities, Sales and Paydowns		
of Investments	_	5,221,618
Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities		4,282,147
Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:		
Bond Redemptions	_	(4,451,120)
Net Cash Used in Noncapital Financing Activities	_	(4,451,120)
Net Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents		(34,497)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year	_	660,920
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year	\$_	626,423

## STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

Cash Flows From Operating Activities:		
Operating Income	\$	158,222
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income to Net		
Cash Provided by (Used in) Operating Activities:		
Amortization of Deferred Financing Costs		17,099
Net Amortization of Bond Discount (Premium)		(9,089)
Net Realized and Unrealized (Gains)		
Losses on Investments		27,712
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:		
(Increase) Decrease in Accrued Interest Receivable		15,509
(Increase) Decrease in Due from Other Funds		(7,854)
(Increase) Decrease in Other Assets		(51,054)
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities		(3,500)
Increase (Decrease) in Due to Other Funds		7,854
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Interest Payable	_	(20,423)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities	\$	134,476

#### **NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS**

**DECEMBER 31, 2006** 

### (1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

#### (A) Organization of Authority -

The Denham Springs/Livingston Housing and Mortgage Finance Authority (the "Authority") is a public trust created pursuant to provisions of the Louisiana Revised Statutes of 1950, as amended, by a Trust Indenture dated February 12, 1979. The Authority's primary purpose is to provide means of financing the cost of residential home ownership, development and rehabilitation which will provide decent, safe and sanitary housing for low and moderate income residents of Livingston Parish at prices they can afford, through the Authority's purchase of mortgage loans made to such persons by certain mortgage lenders.

On September 11, 1979, the Authority issued, through underwriters, Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds, 1979 Series A, totaling \$35,000,000 to fund the purchase of such mortgage loans. This original issue was governed by a Bond Trust Indenture dated June 1, 1979. On April 1, 1987 the debt was restructured according to the terms of the First Supplemental Trust Indenture. On June 16, 1992, the Authority issued, through underwriters, 1992 Series A, 1992 Series B, and 1992 Series C Bonds totaling \$25,475,000, for the purpose of advance refunding the balance on the original 1979 Series A Bonds. Each 1992 Series Bond issued was governed by individual indentures dated June 1, 1992. On October 31, 2003, the Authority redeemed the 1992 Series A and 1992 Series C Bonds and defeased the 1992 Series B Bonds.

On February 22, 1995, the Authority issued an additional \$10,000,000 of Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds Series 1995. The proceeds of these bonds were to be used to finance the purchase of (A) fully modified, mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by the Governmental National Mortgage Association (GNMA) and backed by pools of FHA-insured mortgage loans or VA-guaranteed mortgage loans and (B) single pool, mortgage-backed securities guaranteed by the Federal National Mortgage Association (FNMA) and backed by pools of conventional mortgage loans. As discussed in the following paragraph these bonds were refunded with the proceeds of the issuance of the Series 1997 Bonds.

On January 15, 1997, the Authority issued \$10,000,000 Single Family Mortgage Revenue Refunding Bonds - Series 1997 to refund the Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds - Series 1995. The assets securing the Series 1995 bonds including the 1995 GNMA Securities and the 1995 FNMA Securities were transferred to the Trustee on the date the new bonds were issued. Funds securing the 1995 bonds were then made available to finance the purchase of additional securities backed by mortgage loans made to finance the purchase of single-family residences located in the Parish of Livingston, Louisiana to be owned and occupied by low and moderate income families residing in the parish. The Series 1997 Bonds are governed by a separate indenture dated January 15, 1997.

#### NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

**DECEMBER 31, 2006** 

On June 30, 2000, the Authority issued \$5,010,000 Series 2000A Single Family Mortgage Revenue and Refunding Bonds and \$1,140,000 Series 2000B Single Family Mortgage Revenue Bonds. The Series 2000 Bonds are governed by a separate indenture dated June 1, 2000. \$360,000 of the proceeds of the Series 2000A Bonds were used to refund a like amount of the Series 1997 Bonds. The remaining proceeds of the Series 2000A and all of the proceeds of the Series 2000B will be used to finance the purchase of fully modified mortgage backed securities guaranteed as to timely payment of principal and interest by GNMA and/or Single-pooled, mortgage-backed securities issued and guaranteed by Fannie Mae. In each case the above securities will be backed by pools of qualifying primary residence mortgage loans made by one or more of the participating mortgage lending institutions to qualified persons or families of low and moderate income residing within the stated eligible loan area.

Due to the interest rate environment experienced since the issuance of the Series 2000A and 2000B bonds, in June 2001 the Authority exercised a conversion feature included in the original bond indenture. This conversion feature allowed a portion of the bonds to be converted to Series A-1 and Series B-1 bonds which bear interest at a lower rate than the original issue in order for the mortgage loans to be made at the lower prevailing market interest rates. Therefore, under the conversion feature, \$1,305,000 of the Series 2000A bonds were converted to Series 2000A-1 bonds and \$295,000 of Series 2000B bonds were converted to Series 2000B-1 bonds.

In December, 2004, the Authority received a \$4,000,000 volume cap allocation from the State of Louisiana for tax-exempt mortgage revenue bonds for the purpose of initiating a new mortgage loan program for the first-time home buyers of Livingston Parish. The Authority issued the \$4,000,000 Series 2004A short term bonds on December 29, 2004 and invested the bond proceeds in a Guaranteed Investment Contract ("GIC") which bears the same interest rate as the 2004A bonds. The short term 2004A bonds were being held by the Authority's Placement Agent. The Authority planned to initiate mortgage loans using the Private Placement FNMA Forward Delivery structure in 2006. The 2004A bonds were completely paid off in December 2006 and no mortgage loans were made.

The Authority is managed by a Board of Trustees appointed by the City Council of Denham Springs. The Authority's Board of Trustees is empowered under the bond trust indenture and the bond program agreement to contract with outside parties to conduct the day-to-day operations of the Authority and the programs it initiates. The Authority employs J.P. Morgan (formerly Banc One) and Regions Morgan Keegan Trust as its Program Administrators to provide administrative staff support for the Board of Trustees and its committees, general office administration for the Authority and program administration and supervision for its mortgage purchase bond program. Under its original single family mortgage purchase bond

#### NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

**DECEMBER 31, 2006** 

program, the Authority utilized area financial institutions to originate and service the mortgage loans acquired. In addition, J.P. Morgan and Regions Morgan Keegan Trust have been designated as the Trustee of the bond programs and has the fiduciary responsibility for the custody and investment of funds.

Although located within the boundaries of the City of Denham Springs, the City does not significantly influence the operations of the Authority nor is the Authority held accountable to the City of Denham Springs for fiscal matters.

The bonds issued by the Authority are general obligations of the Authority and are not obligations of the State of Louisiana or any other political subdivision thereof:

Based on criteria outlined in Statement No. 14 and Statement No. 39 of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board the Denham Springs/Livingston Housing and Mortgage Finance Authority is considered a related party to the City of Denham Springs.

#### (B) Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation -

Measurement Focus - On January 1, 2003, the Authority adopted the provisions of Statement No. 34 ("Statement 34") of the Governmental Accounting Standards Board "Basic Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Government" and Statement No. 37, "Basic Financial Statements - and Management's Discussion and Analysis - for State and Local Governments" (an amendment to Statement No. 34). These statements established standards for external financial reporting for all state and local governmental entities which includes a statement of net assets, a statement of activities and changes in net assets and a statement of cash flows.

The proprietary fund utilizes an "economic resources" measurement focus. The accounting objectives of this measurement focus are the determination of operating income, changes in net assets (or cost recovery), financial position, and cash flows. All assets and liabilities (whether current or noncurrent) associated with their activities are reported. Proprietary fund equity is classified as net assets. The Authority has no governmental or fiduciary funds.

Basis of Accounting - The Authority uses the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized when they are earned, and expenses are recognized at the time liabilities are incurred or economic asset used.

#### NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

**DECEMBER 31, 2006** 

The accounts of the Authority are organized on the basis of individual programs. The programs, which are administered by a trustee bank, provide for a separate set of self-balancing accounts which account for bonds issued, debt service and bond redemption requirements, investments, and related revenues and operating expenses. These individual programs are aggregated in the financial statements to comprise the fund of the Authority.

The Authority's accounts are organized into a single proprietary fund. The enterprise fund (a proprietary fund) is used to account for operations (a) that are operated in a manner similar to private business where the intent of the governing body is that the cost (expense, including depreciation) of providing goods and services to the general public is financial or recovered primarily through user charges or (b) where the governing body has decided that the periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred and/or changes in net assets is appropriate for capital maintenance.

The Authority's principal operating revenues are the interest and appreciation (depreciation) related to investments and mortgages/mortgage-backed securities.

Under the provisions of GASB Statement 20, "Accounting and Financial Reporting for Proprietary Fund Accounting," the Authority follows pronouncements of the GASB and has elected not to follow Financial Accounting Standards Board guidance issued subsequent to November 30, 1989.

#### **Estimates**

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

#### **Investments**

In accordance with GASB No. 31, investments are recorded at fair value. Fluctations in the fair value of investments are recorded as gains (losses) in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets.

#### Amortization

Bond issuance costs, including the underwriters' discount on the sale of the bonds and the restructuring expenses, are amortized ratably over the life of the bonds based upon the principal amounts outstanding.

### NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### **DECEMBER 31, 2006**

#### Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of reporting cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include certificates of deposit and all highly liquid debt instruments with maturities of three months or less when purchased.

### (2) Bonds Payable -

The outstanding bonds payable at December 31, 2006 consist of the following:

1997 Series Single Family Mortgage Revenue Refunding Bonds Maturing Serially Through February 1, 2012 with Interest Rate of 6.20% Payable Semiannually	\$	540,000
2000 Series A and A-1, Single Family Mortgage Revenue and Refunding Bonds Maturing Serially through April 1, 2009, with Interest at 7.17%		
Payable Monthly		593,540
Add: Unamortized Bond Premium	_	41,373
Total 2000 Series	_	634,913
Total Bonds Payable	\$ 1	,174,913

The Series 2000 A and A-1 are structured such that the monthly remittances from the mortgage loans and FNMA investment in mortgage-backed securities will be passed on to bondholders as monthly principal and interest redemptions of bonds payable.

A schedule of Changes in Long-Term Debt for the year 2006 is as follows:

	1997 Series	2000 Series A	2004 Series A	Totals
Balances at January 1, 2006 Additions:	\$ 810,000	\$ 828,686	\$ 4,000,000	\$ 5,638,686
Valued at Par	•	-	-	-
Deletions: Cash Payments	(270,000)	(181,120)	(4,000,000)	(4,451,120)
Amortization of Premium		(12,653)		<u>(12,653</u> )
Balances at December 31, 2006	\$ 540,000	\$ 634,913	<b>S</b> -	\$ 1,174,913

#### NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

#### **DECEMBER 31, 2006**

Debt Service requirements to maturity, including interest requirements, are as follows:

	1997 Series	2000 Series A	Totals
2007	\$ 223,870	\$ 358,179	\$ 582,049
2008	218,060	253,540	471,600
2009	130,000		130,000
	571,930	611,719	1,183,649
Add (Less) Unamortized Premium		41,373	41,373
Total Bond Principal and Interest	571,930	653,092	1,225,022
Less: Portion Representing Interest	(31,930)	(18,179)	(50,109)
Total Principal Outstanding at December 31, 2006	\$ 540,000	\$ 634,913	\$ 1,174,913

Computation of annual principal redemptions for Series 2000 A are determined by applying the 0% PSA Prepayment Model. The PSA Prepayment Model was developed by the Public Securities Association and is based on various assumptions. Actual principal redemptions may vary.

#### (3) Cash and Investments -

The Authority's programs maintain deposits at the Trustee bank. The balances of these deposits at December 31, 2006, were entirely insured. The Authority also has funds, classified as "Cash and Cash Equivalents" on the Balance Sheet, which represent interests in money market mutual funds.

### NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

**DECEMBER 31, 2006** 

The Authority's investments at December 31, 2006 are recorded at market value as summarized below:

	Amortized Cost	Fair <u>Value</u>	Unrealized Gains (Losses)
FNMA Mortgaged Backed Securities	\$ 976,817	\$ 950,410	\$ (26,407)
GNMA Mortgage Backed Loan Pool	\$ 1,353,260	\$ 1,370,519	\$ 17,259
FHLMC Mortgage Backed Securities	\$ 1,582,823	\$ 1,569,155	\$ (13,668)
FGIC Capital Market Investment	\$ 141,471	\$ 141,471	\$ -

The FNMA mortgaged backed securities are restricted for debt service on the program's bonds and payment of various program expenses. These securities are held by the Trustee bank in the Trustee's name and are pledged to secure the Authority's investments.

The FGIC Capital Market Investment (formerly FCMSI Float Fund), as authorized by the Series 1997 Bond Indenture, is restricted to pay debt service requirements and provide funds for future GNMA mortgage loan backed pools.

Included in the caption "Net Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses)" on the Individual and Combined Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Balance are as follows: realized gains of \$-0-, realized losses of \$(19,496) and the net change in unrealized gains (losses) at December 31, 2006 as compared to December 31, 2005 of (\$8,216).

As of December 31, 2006, the Authority's investments had the following maturities:

			Investment Maturities (in Years)				
Investment Type	Amortized Cost	Fair Value	Less Than 1	1-5	6 - 10	More Than 10	
U.S. Agencies Guaranteed Investm	\$ 3,912,900 ent	\$ 3,890,084	\$ 271,166	\$ 43,824	\$ 146,581	\$ 3,428,513	
Contracts	<u> 141,471</u>	<u> 141,471</u>	<u>141,471</u>				
Total	<b>\$ 4,054,371</b>	\$ 4,031,555	\$ 412,637	\$ 43,824	\$ 146,581	\$ 3,428,513	

#### NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

**DECEMBER 31, 2006** 

Interest Rate Risk. Investments of the Authority's various bond programs are limited to those authorized in the various bond indentures. The Authority does not have a formal investment policy for its residual agency fund that limits investment maturities as a means of managing its exposure to fair value losses arising from changing interest rates. However, as a means of limiting its exposure to fair value changes arising from fluctuations in interest rates, the Authority does attempt to ladder the maturities of its investments. The Authority typically buys and holds its investments until maturity or until called. Investments of the residual fund are based on recommendations of the Program Administrators to the members of the Board of Trustees.

Credit Risk. The Authority limits investments in commercial paper and corporate bonds to the top two ratings issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations (NRSROs). As of December 31, 2006, the Authority held no investments in commercial paper or corporate bonds. The Authority's investments in U.S. Agencies carry the explicit guarantee of the U.S. government. The Authority's investments in guaranteed investment contracts are not rated.

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits. In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Authority's deposits may not be returned to it. The Authority does not have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. As of December 31, 2006, none of the Authority's bank balance of \$626,673 was exposed to custodial credit risk because it was either completely covered by FDIC insurance or was invested in U.S. treasury money market funds.

Concentration of Credit Risk. The Authority places no limit on the amount the Authority may invest in any one issuer. More than 5% of the Authority's investments are in FNMAs, GNMAs, FHLMCs and guaranteed investment contracts.

#### (4) Compensation Paid Board Members -

Richard Waldrep	\$ 50
J.W. Day	75
Gerald Hughes	75
Stacy Jones, Chairman	50
Neil Juneau	-
Joan Landry	50
Brent Dugas	
	\$ 300

#### NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

**DECEMBER 31, 2006** 

#### (5) Prior Year's Defeasance of Debt -

On June 16, 1992, the Authority applied proceeds from sales of investments of the 1979 Series A Bond issue and proceeds from issuance of 1992 Series A and 1992 Series B Bond issues to advance refund the outstanding portion of the 1979 Series A Bonds. The Authority placed sufficient proceeds in an irrevocable trust to provide for all future debt service payments on the old debt. Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased debt are not included in the Authority's financial statements. At December 31, 2006, the balance of the defeased portion of the bonds is \$17,910,000.

On October 31, 2003, the Authority completed a redemption of the outstanding balances of the Series 1992 Class A-1 and Series 1992 Class C Bonds. The Class A Bonds were refunded at par and the total balance redeemed was \$282,543. The Class C Bonds were redeemed with a call premium of 2%. The total balance refunded of these bonds was \$2,593,207 plus the call premium of \$51,864.

In addition, on that same date, the Authority also completed a defeasance of the outstanding balance of the Class B-2 Bonds. Since these bonds are not callable until 2014, the Authority placed \$181,962 of funds in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide for all future debt payments on these bonds. As a result, these bonds are considered to be defeased and, accordingly, the liability for these bonds has been removed from these financial statements. At December 31, 2006, the par balance of the defeased portion of the bonds is \$300,000.

#### (6) Subsequent Event -

In April 2007, the Authority issued \$15,000,000 of Series 2007 Bonds to purchase GNMA, FNMA and/or FHLMC securities backed by and based on the mortgage loans made by certain mortgage lending institutions made in the eligible loan area to finance owner-occupied single family residential immovable property located in Livingston Parish to be owned and occupied by low and moderate income families or persons residing in the eligible loan area. The lending institutions will assemble these loans into pools in order to permit GNMA, FNMA, and/or FHLMC securities to be issued and therefore to be purchased by the Authority with proceeds of the Series 2007.



## SCHEDULE OF ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS BY PROGRAM

## AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2006

<u>ASSETS</u>	-	1997 Series		2000 Series		2004 Series A
Cash and Cash Equivalents	\$	6,312	\$	59,770	\$	-
FNMA Securities		113,131		52,844		-
GNMA Securities		625,260		623,886		-
FHLMC Securities		•		-		**
FGIC Capital Market Investment		141,471		-		-
Due from Other Funds		-		_		_
Accrued Interest Receivable		7,722		3,469		-
Deferred Financing Costs - Net of Amortization		17,055		13,442		_
Due from Escrow						-
Total Assets	\$ _	910,951	\$	753,411	\$ = =	
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS						
Liabilities:						
Due to Other Funds	\$	234,049	\$	-	\$	-
Accrued Interest Payable		13,944		3,287		-
Bonds Payable - Net	_	540,000		634,913		-
Total Liabilities		787,993		638,200		-
Net Assets:						
Restricted for Debt Service		122,958		115,211		_
Unrestricted				-		-
Total Net Assets	_	122,958		115,211		-
Total Liabilities and Net Assets	\$	910,951	\$	753,411	\$	-
	=		=	<del></del>	=	

	Residual		Elimination	
	Fund		Adjustment	Total
\$	560,341	\$	- ;	626,423
	784,435		•	950,410
	121,373		-	1,370,519
	1,569,155		<del>-</del>	1,569,155
	-		-	141,471
	234,049		(234,049)	-
	16,784		-	27,975
	-		-	30,497
	852,959		-	852,959
	4,139,096	\$	(234,049) \$	5,569,409
\$		\$	(234,049) \$	
-D	-	Ð	(234,047) \$	17,231
	<u>-</u> -		<b>-</b> 	
•				1,174,913
	-		(234,049)	1,192,144
	-		-	238,169
_	4,139,096		<u>-</u>	4,139,096
_	4,139,096		<u>•</u>	4,377,265
	4,139,096	\$	(234,049) \$	5,569,409

# SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS BY PROGRAM

		1997 Series	2000 Series
Operating Revenues:			
Interest Earned on Other Investments Net Realized and Unrealized Gains (Losses) on Investments	\$	55,354 \$ (15,091)	55,336 (16,578)
Total Operating Revenues		40,263	38,758
Operating Expenses:			
Interest		41,852	35,153
Amortization of Deferred Financing Costs		4,964	4,111
Grant		-	~
Administrative Fees		296	385
Operating Expenses		-	-
Professional Fees		500	_
Total Operating Expenses	_	47,612	39,649
Operating Income (Loss)		(7,349)	(891)
Non-Operating Revenue (Expense):			
Transfers In (Out)	_	(4,073)	-
		(4,073)	
Change in Net Assets		(11,422)	(891)
Net Assets - Beginning of Year	_	134,380	116,102
Net Assets - End of Year	\$ _	122,958 \$	115,211

	2004 Series A	Residual Fund	Total
\$	135,952 \$	218,804 \$ 3,957	465,446 (27,712)
	135,952	222,761	437,734
	126 062		212.057
	135,952	-	212,957
	8,024	- 20.000	17,099
	-	30,000	30,000
	-	4,844 3,931	5,525 3,931
	_	9,500	10,000
		···	
	143,976	48,275	279,512
	(8,024)	174,486	158,222
	<u> </u>	4,073	
	<u>.</u>	4,073	
	(8,024)	17 <b>8,</b> 559	158,222
_	8,024	3,960,537	4,219,043
\$	- \$	4,139,096 \$	4,377,265

## SCHEDULE OF CASH FLOWS BY PROGRAM

		1997 Series	2000 Series
Cash Receipts for: Investment Income on Other Investments	\$	64,726 \$	56,589
Cash Payments for:		•	·
Interest on Debt		(45,260)	(48,823)
Other Operating Expenses	-	(796)	(385)
Net Cash Provided by			
Operating Activities		18,670	7,381
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:			
Purchase of Investments		-	-
Proceeds from Maturities, Sales and Paydowns			
of Investments		260,908	174,379
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities		260,908	174,379
Cash Flows From Noncapital Financing Activities:			
Bond Redemptions		(270,000)	(181,120)
Operating Transfers In (Out) - Net	_	(4,073)	
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) NonCapital			
Financing Activities	_	(274,073)	(181,120)
Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash	_		
and Cash Equivalents		5,505	640
Cash and Cash Equivalents at			
Beginning of Year	_	807	59,130
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year	\$	6,312 \$	59,770

	2004 Series A	•	Residual Fund		Total
\$	148,386	\$	160,200	\$	429,901
	(148,386)	•	(51,775)		(242,469) (52,956)
	-		108,425		134,476
	-		(939,471)		(939,471)
	4,000,000		786,331	_	5,221,618
-	4,000,000		(153,140)		4,282,147
•	(4,000,000)		4,073	-	(4,451,120)
-	(4,000,000)		4,073	-	(4,451,120)
	-		(40,642)		(34,497)
-	<u>-</u>	,	600,983	_	660,920
\$	-	\$	560,341	\$	626,423

## SCHEDULE OF CASH FLOWS BY PROGRAM (CONTINUED)

	 1997 Series	2000 Series
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:		
Operating Income (Loss)	\$ (7,349) \$	(891)
Adjustments to Reconcile Operating Income (Loss) to Net Cash Provided by (Used In)		
Operating Activities:		
Amortization of Deferred Financing Costs	4,964	4,111
Net Amortization of Bond Discount (Premium)	3,564	(12,653)
Net Realized and Unrealized (Gains)	ř	
Losses on Investments	15,091	16,578
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:		
(Increase) Decrease in Accrued		
Interest Receivable	1,518	1,253
(Increase) Decrease in Due from Other Funds	<u>-</u>	-
(Increase) Decrease in Other Assets	-	-
Increase (Decrease) in Other Liabilities	_	-
Increase (Decrease) in Due to Other Funds	7,854	-
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Interest	-	
Payable	 (6,972)	(1,017)
Net Cash Provided by		
Operating Activities	\$ 18,670_\$	7,381

	2004 Series A	Residual Fund	Total
\$	(8,024) \$	174,486 \$	158,222
	8,024 -	- -	17,099 (9,089)
	-	(3,957)	27,712
	12,434	304 (7,854)	15,509 (7,854)
	- -	(51,054) (3,500)	(51,054) (3,500)
_	(12,434)		7,854
\$_	\$	108,425 \$	134,476

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT ON
INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL
REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER
MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE
WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Randy J. Bonnecaze, CPA\*
Joseph D. Richard, Jr., CPA\*
Ronnie E. Stamper, CPA\*
Fernand P. Genre, CPA\*
Stephen M. Huggins, CPA\*
Monica L. Zumo, CPA\*
Ronald L. Gagnet, CPA\*
Coleste D. Viator, CPA\*
Laura E. Monroe, CPA\*
R. David Wascom, CPA\*

1175 Del Este Avenue, Suite B Denham Springs, LA 70726 Phone: (225) 665-8297 Fax: (225) 667-3813 Members American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants

2322 Tremont Drive
Baton Rouge, LA 70809

www.htbcpa.com

May 24, 2007

To the Board of Directors

Denham Springs/Livingston Housing and
Mortgage Finance Authority

We have audited the financial statements of the Denham Springs/Livingston Housing and Mortgage Finance Authority (the Authority) as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006, and have issued our report thereon dated May 24, 2007. We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in *Government Auditing Standards*, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.

## Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit, we considered the Authority's internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing our auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority's internal control over financial reporting.

A control deficiency exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent or detect misstatements on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a control deficiency, or combination of control deficiencies, that adversely affects the entity's ability to initiate, authorize, record, process, or report financial data reliably in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles such that there is more than a remote likelihood that a misstatement of the entity's financial statements that is more than inconsequential will not be prevented or detected by the entity's internal control.

A material weakness is a significant deficiency, or combination of significant deficiencies, that results in more than a remote likelihood that a material misstatement of the financial statements will not be prevented or detected by the entity's internal control.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and would not necessarily identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be significant deficiencies or material weaknesses. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above.

### **Compliance and Other Matters**

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Authority's financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instance of noncompliance or other matters that would be required to be reported under *Government Auditing Standards*.

This report is intended solely for the information of the Board of Directors, management and the Louisiana Legislative Auditor and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. Under Louisiana Revised Statue 24:513, this report is distributed by the Legislative Auditor as a public document.

Respectfully submitted,

Flannes J. Bourgeois, LLP